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Introduction and Acknowledgements


Quite soon after I came to the West Country, more than half a lifetime ago, I realised what an incredible part of Britain was now on my doorstep. My first physical explorations of Somerset confirmed this impression, with even more fascinating discoveries coming to light from time spent in the Somerset Studies Library and the County Record Office at Taunton delving into the events and people that had shaped its history. I owe much to the staff in those places.


Hoping to share the fascination I was finding, I wrote a small book, Exploring the Smaller Towns of Somerset, half a dozen other works on diverse local subjects and a series of ‘Town Trails’ and other articles for the former Somerset Magazine. Roy Gallop was an invaluable partner in all these efforts.


This book dips into the files of information I have collected over the years and attempts to present a selection of some of the most unusual, intriguing and entertaining items they contain. Nicola Guy, Declan Flynn, and the staff of The History Press have, as always, been immensely helpful and supportive. Tess Green has generously contributed information on two subjects and my sister, Maureen Etheridge, has kindly cast a tutored eye over my efforts. To these, and the many past contributors to the ‘Notes & Queries’ columns of the Somerset Herald I have scrutinised, I am extremely grateful. Any shortcomings in the outcome of all this are entirely mine and are much regretted.


The illustrations are from my own collection, except where otherwise indicated.
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[image: images]ABBOT WHITING’S MARTYRDOM[image: images]



In the year 1539 a sad drama came to its dramatic climax on the summit of Glastonbury Tor. The story had been building up for the best part of five years, over which period the consequences of King Henry VIII’s break from the Church of Rome had become more and more apparent throughout England. Its size and importance had preserved Glastonbury Abbey for a time, but even such an eminent and well-run foundation could not escape the process of dissolving the monasteries which was yielding such riches for the monarch and those he favoured.


To justify the process there had to be scapegoats and, quite undeservedly, Glastonbury’s abbot became one of these. Lord Russell, who was in charge of the affair, described the outcome in his subsequent report to Thomas Cromwell, writing: ‘that on Thursdaye the 14th daye of this moneth the Abbott of Glastonburye was arrayed, and the next daye putt to execution with two other of his monkes for the robbying of Glastonburye Churche, on the Torre Hyll next unto the towne of Glastonburye’.
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Although much of the former Glastonbury Abbey is now in ruins, the erstwhile Abbot’s Kitchen conveys some idea of the splendid place it must once have been.


The abbot referred to was Richard Whiting, a man of modest origins who had studied at Cambridge, been ordained priest and then given an appointment as chamberlain at Glastonbury’s famous abbey. He seems to have attracted the favourable attention of Cardinal Wolsey who, in a surprise decision, elevated him to the highest position in that great religious establishment, that of abbot. Taking over in 1524, Abbot Whiting seems to have been an effective leader, carrying out the religious and pastoral duties of the abbey well, and effectively managing its large establishment, its great landownings and its many satellite houses. Forty-seven monks witnessed his election as abbot and supported the abbey’s works with more piety and discipline than was apparent at some religious foundations.


Inevitably, all this was to change in the massive upheaval which followed Henry VIII’s divorce from Queen Catherine of Aragon and his consequent break with the Pope and the Roman Catholic religion. Whatever Abbot Whiting’s personal reservations about the king’s chosen means of changing the nation’s religious allegiance and practices, he duly appended his signature to the tool chosen for this, the 1534 Act of Supremacy. In the following year, Thomas Cromwell was appointed Vicar General and, interpreting the king’s wishes, instigated a survey of England’s religious houses. As a result of this, Glastonbury Abbey was inspected by Dr Richard Layton who reported that there was ‘nothing notable’ to say about it. It became increasingly clear later that Layton could not find any real fault with either Glastonbury or nearby Bruton.


The Act for the Submission of the Clergy and other legislation in the 1534 package was supplemented in 1535 by a statute governing the dissolution of the smaller monasteries. These were the simplest prey, and Cromwell’s commissioners no doubt saw them as easy to find fault with and to relieve of their land and treasures. So began a process of pensioning off the inoffensive clergy and making an example of the obdurate, coupled with lining the pockets of the monarch and his chosen beneficiaries. Richard Whiting must have watched this process with growing concern and he tried to protect his own establishment by frequent gifts and written appeals to those with influence. To no avail.


Dr Layton appears to have felt that Abbot Whiting was a man without fault, which was not the direction in which his masters wanted to go. Some of the larger monasteries had already surrendered themselves voluntarily, and a 1539 Act legitimising this also gave powers to dissolve the remainder, especially if treason or any other crime was discovered. Whiting and his abbey were now doomed. On 7 April he wrote a pitiful letter to Cromwell arguing against a summons to London, pleading that for some time he had been ‘greatlye diseased with dyvers infirmyties’, but it failed to deter Cromwell, influenced not only by his monarch, also but by the amount of confiscated wealth rolling in.


Already the religious houses of the West Country had yielded up around 500 ounces of gold and 45,000 ounces of silver and silver plate, and there was more to be had at Glastonbury. More commissioners came down and began the authorised looting there, but the abbot appears to have been left alone until a surprise visit by a group of commissioners on 19 September 1535, when Whiting was told that the abbey would close. He was taken from his house at Sharpham and confined in his lodging at the abbey. He was soon escorted to London and there confronted with prepared charges, never fully disclosed, before being returned to Glastonbury under guard. The opportunity had been taken to search the abbot’s personal possessions in his absence and damning evidence was allegedly ‘discovered’ in the process. Whether or not it had been conveniently planted there is a matter for conjecture.


Even less information was forthcoming about a trial of Abbot Whiting which was staged before a jury at Wells on 14 November, but certainly no effort had been spared by Cromwell’s emissaries to extort damning testimonies against him from some who feared for their own safety. The outcome of the examination was certain and swift. The verdict ‘condemned to death’ was widely publicised, but there was no publicity for the trial evidence and process.


After being taken back to the abbey under escort and spending the night there, Richard Whiting, his treasurer John Thorne and the sub-treasurer Roger James were roused the next morning. The day was destined to be their last. In a sad and degrading spectacle the three unfortunates were placed upon hurdles which were dragged by horses up the steep slope to the summit of the tor.
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The tower of the fourteenth-century church of St Michael, another victim of the Dissolution process, still stands on the top of Glastonbury Tor marking the spot where Abbot Whiting was put to death.


There, overlooking the abbey and its Somerset domain, Whiting, Thorne and James met their deaths.


In his letter of 16 November 1539 quoted at the beginning, Lord Russell continued: ‘the seyde abbot’s body being devyded into foure parts, and the hedde stryken off; whereof one quarter stondythe at Welles, another at Bathe and at Ylchester, and Brigewater the rest, and his hedde upon the Abbeygate at Glastonburye.’


More loads of looted treasure went up to London, the estates were sold off over a period of years and the 1,500 people managed by the abbey had to settle down to new masters and lifestyle. Fortunately the ruins of the abbey have survived and Abbot Whiting’s life and service was honoured by his church with beatification in May 1895.
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The right of a wanted man to seek sanctuary in a church lasted in this country for a thousand years, and at one period, as many as 1,000 people would exercise this right in a typical year. Somerset had its share of these, with cases recorded at places as far apart as Watchet and Yeovil.


The tradition of sanctuary was well known to the Greeks and Romans and was formalised here by King Ethelbert in ad 600. It was perpetuated after the Norman Conquest, and in cases of felony those accused could surrender themselves at any consecrated church and be protected from their pursuers. Only a limited number of chartered sanctuaries could take in people wanted for treason, and there was no succour at all if sacrilege was involved.


So how did the right of sanctuary work? In the main, two classes of society made use of it. Noblemen involved in a blood feud, or some other dispute over wealth or power, might choose to seek sanctuary rather than risk being cut down by their rivals. More ordinary people, usually driven to theft by need or hunger, would only choose the sanctuary option if the law was hot on their heels, but might then consider it a lesser evil than risking the harsh punishments of their times.


Once the fugitive was on consecrated ground, usually denoted by the churchyard boundary, he was safe. The commotion of the chase would alert the priest or churchwarden to the situation and a bell would be rung to denote the granting of sanctuary.


The church and community had then to hold its visitor secure while the coroner was sent for and the unexpected, and probably unwelcome, arrival had been given the choice of surrendering to the law or remaining in sanctuary. If he chose the latter he had to swear to ‘abjure the realm’ within a stipulated period, ultimately extended to forty days, and never to return. If he escaped during the sanctuary period, the church and its parishioners could expect a severe penalty.
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This recess in Chewton Mendip church is believed to be one of the few surviving examples of the seat which sanctuary seekers were obliged to use, sometimes known as a ‘frith’, or peace, stool.


At certain times, implementing the abjuration process involved stringent conditions, such as being forced to wear simple pilgrim garb and carry a small, symbolic wooden cross. The subject might choose his own port of embarkation, but had to follow a specific route and tarry no longer than a single night at any point on the journey. He was obliged to seek a ship immediately and, if a passage was not to be had, to wade into the sea each day and sleep on the beach each night. Failure to leave the country within the appointed time meant having to seek a renewal of sanctuary locally. Coupled with the automatic loss of property that went with this exile status, sanctuary was clearly not a soft option.


Not surprisingly, this ancient right of church protection sometimes caused friction with other parties involved. In 1318 Walter Brinton had no sooner grasped the sanctuary ring on the door of Chedzoy church than his pursuers dragged him away and carried him off to Somerton Gaol.


When news reached the bishop at Wells, he was incensed and insisted that Brinton be restored to Chedzoy as the right of sanctuary provided. Somerton then featured in another case in 1340, when one John Durburgh was on his way to Somerton to give evidence in a case against a member of the powerful de Mohun family. He was waylaid by a group of armed men and only just managed to reach the church there ahead of them. Despite claiming sanctuary, his pursuers dragged him out and set off along the road to Langport. Fortunately for Durburgh, the sheriff and a band of followers managed to rescue him and de Mohun was eventually imprisoned for his offence, subsequently receiving a royal pardon.
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On the door of Chedzoy church a ring or knocker was once provided for use by anyone claiming sanctuary.


In the thirteenth and fourteenth centuries claims for sanctuary are recorded at a variety of places in Somerset including: Taunton; North Petherton; Yeovil; Martock; Bagborough; Stogumber; Ilton; Chedzoy; Crewkerne; Huish Episcopi; Ilchester; Stogursey; Somerton; and Watchet. The Watchet case of two murderers had two different outcomes; one fled and was outlawed and the other abjured the realm. At Yeovil in 1420 John Green, thought to be fleeing from a duelling death, was sent to Southampton but failed to keep his abjuration oath and was brought back for trial.


A most unusual case of people seeking sanctuary occurred at Ilchester in 1276. The church involved was St Olaves, which belonged to Montacute Priory. Its priest must have been astonished on the day when, according to one account, ‘a thief removed from the gallows for burial in the churchyard, recovered and sought sanctuary there.’


After Henry VIII broke with Rome, the practice of sanctuary started to change. Not only did the state seek more control of the law, but churches proved less than keen on the burden of supporting sanctuary claimants. Eventually, special ‘chartered sanctuary’ status was accorded to just a small number of locations, Wells among them, but this brought them an influx of the sort of people they were not willing to welcome. James I, an astute and pragmatic monarch, then abolished the right of sanctuary in 1623 except for a few specific civil cases, mainly involving debt. Curiously the concept lingered on in a few places, and a Weston-super-Mare innkeeper is said to have lived on Steep Holm island for seven years, claiming it offered sanctuary and precluded proceedings being taken against him for debt.
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By the beginning of the present century an odd survivor of a once-important travellers’ route stood alone, uninhabited and neglected, a little way from the eastern bank of the River Parrett opposite the village of Combwich. It was once a fairly substantial building, at times full of life and activity, but it fell into disuse; its walls crumbled and shrubs and brambles began to grow in profusion where once travellers had paused for refreshment.
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The former road from Pawlett to the River Parrett and the site of the ferry across to Combwich with the site of the former White House Inn on its right.


This was the former White House Inn, probably so-called from being whitewashed to provide a progress marker for the vessels that plied along the adjacent river on their journey between Bridgwater and the open waters of the Bristol Channel.


This curious location for an inn is not so strange when a look at the map reveals that it lies on a direct ‘crow-flight’ line between the traditional road south from Bristol and a very large land area between the Quantock Hills and the Channel coast. The modern route lies via Bridgwater, but this adds a number of miles to the journey and this factor would have been of considerable significance in former times when most travellers had to make their journeys on foot. Even the use of horses meant strict limitations on the rate of progress. This choice of the route and river crossing would be even more understandable to present minds if the roadside through Pawlett still carried the old sign which pointed and read, ‘To the Ferry’.


A ferryman is recorded at Combwich as early as 1327, but his boat was not the first route across the river. Starting from a point on the east bank, near where the ferry used to berth, there is a ridge of hard lias rock running diagonally beneath the river to the west bank. Although visible only when the water is at an unusually low level, this causeway provided a firm and shallow way for people and animals to cross the river, long before the ferry was introduced or Bridgwater got its first bridge. It was still crossed occasionally by farmers and other local people into the twentieth century and a local comment records, ‘The Combwich ford was well known and used in former days. It was the chief route to Glastonbury and Salisbury. At low tide horses and cattle were safely driven across the river.’
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It is not easy to visualise trows and ketches bringing coal to this tiny pill for unloading and then sailing with a cargo of bricks or agricultural produce. The more recent structure was built as an unloading point for materials for the Hinckley Point nuclear power complex.


The tiny pill at Combwich was being used by small sailing vessels taking corn to Ireland and other markets as early as the fourteenth century. It continued to despatch local produce over the years, served as a base for larger vessels on longer routes, dealt with timber and other goods being transhipped to barges and received coal for the local brick industry and shipped its finished products outwards. Coupled with the livestock farming on local agricultural land and the consequent need to get fattened animals to market, this busy area clearly needed a more reliable local means of crossing the river than that offered by the causeway where the depth of water varied and could be dangerously deceptive.


Once known as the King’s Ferry, this Combwich river crossing may have dated back to Saxon times but, in addition to the fourteenth century mention, it certainly featured in a will dated 1650 and again in an indenture of 1751. The latter referred to the sale of fifteen acres of land, an orchard, a wharf for landing coal and ‘the ferry or passage boat’ and ‘its customs, profits and privileges’. The crossing was recorded as providing ‘large ferry boats for cattle, sheep and passengers in the eighteenth century.’


Today, the eastern approach to the River Parrett opposite Combwich is just a lonely track and the old White House Inn just a ruin along it. It is easier to imagine the days of the ferry in the village setting of the Combwich side, where passengers would wait for the ferry in the Blue Anchor Inn or ring the bell to summon the ferryman from the other side. Less easy to imagine, unless you were out on the riverbank alone on a wild night and with darkness approaching, is the reputed ghostly re-enactment of that evening in the eighteenth century when the horses pulling a coach across the Combwich Passage were startled and bolted, taking the vehicle and its innocent passengers to a watery oblivion.
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Axbridge is one of those rare and very special places where the evidence of the past is dramatically apparent, and provides a vivid idea of how a small town would have looked over a long history stretching back to Roman times. Although the name Axbridge has had a variety of spellings over the years there can be little doubt that it can be taken literally and refer to a bridge over the River Axe. That watercourse is now a mile or so away, but has had a host of routes and tributaries over the ages and there is at least one strong view that the original bridge lies buried beneath The Square, which is the heart of the present settlement.
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These two fine jettied buildings at the entry to The Square at Axbridge create a vivid idea of what the town would have looked like 500 years ago.


From the town’s market square, where the market cross and stocks once stood, the outlook in all direction holds a wealth of special features. The misleadingly misnamed King John’s Hunting Lodge commands instant attention, clearly revealing its origins as a late medieval wool merchant’s house dating from around 1500 – nearly 300 years after King John’s death. At the lower corner of the High Street, dramatically timbered and jettied, it rises three stories from a stone foundation: the ground floor once having been occupied by shops, the second devoted to the living area and workshops and the third to the sleeping and ancillary accommodation.
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This fine belvedere rises above The Old Courthouse, another of Axbridge’s ancient buildings. (Roy Gallop)


Now owned by the National Trust and functioning as a museum with local support, the building has been restored to reveal the incredible main timbers around which the construction centres as well as showing the pattern of secondary beams projecting outwards to carry the jetties. Helped by the fact that neither stairs, walls, nor anything else, is really straight inside, and by the collection of artefacts the building houses, it is easy to get some idea of how the original occupants might have lived.


On the opposite side of the High Street is another timber-framed building of the same period, with a further example at No. 9, a little way along. Further up this narrow, atmospheric street are other period features; huge studded doors, carved lintels and more.


With a little imagination one can visualise the barbaric annual bull-baiting ritual which took place along here every November, and during which the unhappy beast was hounded to its death by a host of local people, supposedly in the interests of tenderising the meat it was then slaughtered to provide.


Moorland Street, leading south, was the route which linked the market area of the Saxon ‘burh’ of Axbridge to the royal palace at Cheddar. There is a whole host of buildings here from the late fifteenth and early sixteenth century, such as The Old Almshouse. Further along is the former headquarters of the police force for the old Axbridge Division, where a superintendent managed a team of six sergeants and twenty-two constables. The Division used to comprise over forty parishes, and the Axbridge Union workhouse could house some 500 inmates taken from these. Today, the workhouse building survives as modern apartments with pleasant garden surroundings, having had an interim period as a hospital.


At one time, Axbridge even had a mint; its first charter was granted in 1557 and it was an extremely prosperous place at the height of the wool trade, deriving great wealth from the fairs and markets held regularly in the town. These also made a contribution to the ongoing building of the magnificent St John’s Church which presides graciously over the town from its elevated position off the market square.
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A special corner of Axbridge, not only for churchgoers, but because charity used to be distributed here and the two wells in the retaining wall formed the town’s main water supply.


Beside the approach steps are twin wells, fed by water off the Mendip Hillss via a former mill pond. They represent a rare survival of a public water supply with a 500-year history.


Other unusual and intriguing sights around the heart of Axbridge include its charming little 1830s town hall, the Lamb Inn where the Guildhall used to stand and a building with a two-storey frontage but only one storey behind. Despite their aged appearance, quite a few of the buildings in the heart of Axbridge are even older than their frontages and most have a deserved place in the wealth of unusual features with which Axbridge is blessed. A candidate for favourite among them would be The Old Angel, an attractive dwelling with a 500-year history, including one period when it had an alehouse on the ground floor, a gaming room on the first and a parlour above (where morality was not an obvious virtue).




B



[image: images]BACK-SWORDS AND BROKEN HEADS[image: images]



The age-old human leaning towards peculiar combinations of skill and aggression that masqueraded under the general heading of games was very evident in Somerset in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries. One of the favourite pastimes in the county was back-swords, which in essence, consisted of using a mock wooden ‘sword’ to strike an opponent’s head sufficiently hard to make it bleed. Large crowds watched the contests not only as a local attraction at such places as Wincanton, Wiveliscombe, Worle and Wedmore, but also in the form of regular inter-county matches and even a Somerset v. England fixture. Wedmore, in particular, was quite famous for its back-sword players at one period and they travelled far and wide to compete, making a substantial profit for themselves and their backers out of their success.


The basic rule in back-sword contests was that the player to first draw blood from his opponent was the winner, but each engagement followed a prescribed pattern. The two opponents were supported by three seconds, known as ‘sticklers’, who would help their principal remove his jacket, carry his weapon and generally urge his fearsome reputation upon anyone prepared to listen. Before setting about one another, the contestants would shake hands and voice the wish, ‘God save our eyes’. Upon a given signal, the ‘swordsmen’ would then weave, feint and seek an opportunity for the telling blow, using body strikes to distract the adversary from the real thrust designed to avoid the arm he was using to protect his head. In some contests this elementary defence was replaced with a strap stretched between leg and hand which could be raised to deflect blows. Even so, bruising would have occurred in every contest, possibly as the least painful outcome, and sometimes the rivalry might get totally out of hand and an onlooker free-for-all ensue.


At irregular intervals over the years, Somerset men took on those of Berkshire and Wiltshire at a back-sword event known as ‘The Scouring of the White Horse’. John Bunn of Wedmore was the champion at the Scouring event in 1857, but not all the contests went the county’s way. When they did, a common rumour (no doubt started by disappointed contestants or punters) was that Somerset men did not bleed so readily as others as they drank cider and vinegar before a match to inhibit the flow of blood. Whatever the outcome, those taking part would do quite well out of the occasion, for after each bout they would walk round and collect offerings from the spectators in the wicker hand guard of their weapon.
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(From a Thomas Bewick woodcut)


A variant of back-swords was ‘sword and dagger’, where the principal weapon was a 2ft long stout stick, with a striking knob at one end and a wicker hand guard at the other. This game was one of the main features of a two-day event held at Langport in 1768, when a purse of two guineas was offered for the contestant who ‘broke the most heads’ on the first day and one guinea for the winner of each of the sword and dagger and back-swords contests on the second. The White Horse Inn provided a meal on both days to sustain the spectators, who could also watch the various other opportunities to see blood spilled by contestants or animals. In Somerton the venue for such events was the Red Lion, where a customary prize was a gold-laced hat.


Wood also replaced the metal of earlier times, in other events that featured regularly on feast, fair and other special occasions. The quarter staff had been about and used in contests for centuries.


The normal length was 5 or 6ft and the standard practice was to hold the staff in the centre with one hand and move the other to create the variety of swings and strikes. There was also a version of back-swords in which the contestants each stood in a barrel, ducking down to avoid blows and popping up again in the hope of catching their opponent off guard.


Cudgel contests in their formal mode were much the same as back-sword play. Rather different was the local pastime of throwing a cudgel, or any suitable stout piece of wood for that matter, as far or as high as could be achieved. Some local contests involved throwing the cudgel over the church, with the champion open to a return match challenge or one from a neighbouring village. Cudgel events were a regular feature of life in places as far apart as Dundry, Wiveliscombe and Wincanton.
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Where ‘Bath Bricks’ got their name is a mystery. They don’t come from Bath, their use is not confined to the bath or baths and they were not discovered by a Mr Bath. Be that as it may, these scouring blocks were a major Somerset industry for around 100 years. At its height this important industry, largely based in Bridgwater, was selling millions of tons of its product annually. It was in use in every corner of the British Empire, Europe and the New World, and it was a staple wherever regular cleaning took place, from public baths to hospital sluices and army barracks to warship decks. A powdered brick kept metal objects clean, and if dampened with water, it was highly effective on floors and similar large surfaces.


The bricks themselves were about the size of a double bar of the old square soap blocks and were composed largely of gritty particles of silica and alumina, with lime, sulphur and clay in smaller amounts. The natural flow of the River Parrett brought these materials downriver towards Bridgwater, where they encountered other deposits moving up river with the tides and were deposited in the best proportions for their ultimate purpose in a short stretch of the river either side of the town bridge.


Between Somerset Bridge to the south and the town bridge itself, Bath brick works existed on both sides of the river, but further down they were mainly on the eastern bank.


The deposited mixture which constituted the raw material for Bath bricks was known as ‘slime’, for it was an unattractive dirty colour, and the areas of its collection were referred to as ‘batches’. A seeming bonanza for Bridgwater; but the process conflicted with the desire of the shipping interests to keep the river as deep and free as possible, while the Bath brick manufacturers offered some strong opposition to the eroder boats built for that purpose.
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The slime batches for collecting the raw materials for Bath bricks stretched for about 2 miles in either direction from the Bridgwater’s Town Bridge.


The potential for this special Bridgwater slime seems to have been increasingly realised from around 1820 and, at its peak, bricks were being manufactured at the rate of over 20 million tons a year, the bulk of them being exported by sea from the Bridgwater wharves. The major manufacturers of conventional bricks and tiles found it a lucrative supplementary activity which fitted in well with their core business. Between the two World Wars more sophisticated products appeared and gradually displaced the simple Bath brick.


Processing the slime to produce the scouring bricks was a dirty, labour-intensive job. First the base of each batch was laid down, preferably where the river had a slight inward curve and thus a slower current to encourage the deposit process. Rubble from the adjacent brickyards was used as a bed and a slight sill was provided to contain the settling process. When the deposit had reached 4ft or so, it was dug out manually and left on the riverbank for rain to wash out the unwanted salt content. Next, when the weather was better, it went into a horse-worked mixer – the ‘pugging mill’ – for women and boys to gather the output into balls containing the amount needed to fill a mould. Thus ‘obstricked’, the balled mixture was pressed into the mould using a ‘striker’ to achieve its final brick shape. The shaped bricks then stood on drying boards for a few days.
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